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1. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

JOHN W. JENNINGS requests the relief designated in Part 2 of this

Petition.

2. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT

Mr. Jennings seeks review of an Unpublished Opinion of Division

III of the Court of Appeals dated June 28, 2018. (Appendix "A" 1-31)

3. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does the Court of Appeals decision concerning the sufficiency

of the evidence to convict Mr.. Jennings as either a principal or accomplice

to premeditated first degree murder comport with existing case law?

4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Michael Carrigan was hunting on the east side of Cow Camp Road

in the Pontiac Ridge area of Okanogan County on September 2, 2013.

(Beck RP 272,11. 15-22; RP 276,11. 7-9; 11. 14-22)

John Jennings, and his son Adam Jeimings, were living on the west

side of Cow Camp Road in a ramshackle cabin. The area is well treed.

(Beck RP 513,1. 25 to RP 514,1. 3; Exhibit 102; Exhibit 184)

George Stover, a friend of Michael Carrigan's, remained with their

pickup (PU) while Mr. Carrigan was hunting in the field. Tim Carrigan,

Mr. Carrigan's brother, was hunting in a different area at that time. Mr.

Stover heard a gunshot from the right side of the road. He believed it came
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from the area of the Jennings' cabin. He did not see anyone outside. (Beck

RP 448,11. 10-13; RP 453,11. 11-16; RP 487,11. 10-11; RP 498,11. 13-14;

RP 500,11. 5-17)

Michael Carrigan went to the ground after the shot. He then got up

and started back toward the PU. Mr. Stover saw blood on Mr. Carrigan's

hands. A second shot rang out and Mr. Carrigan fell again. He went to his

knees and rolled over onto his back. (Beck RP 500,1. 19 to RP 501,1. 22)

A search warrant was obtained for the Jennings' cabin on September

3,2013. (Beck RP 374,11. 4-11)

Detective Behymer located a spent .22 casing on the porch. A .22

revolver and ammunition were also recovered by her. (Beck RP 387,11.14-

20; RP 399,11. 4-9; 11. 20-25; RP 401,11. 9-14)

Dr. Fino, a forensic pathologist, conducted an autopsy on Mr. Car

rigan on September 4, 2013. Initial x-rays revealed metal fragments near

his heart. (Beck RP 592,11. 3-13; RP 603,11. 4-13; RP 610,11. 19-21)

Dr. Fino located an entrance wound from a gunshot in Mr. Carri

gan's right upper back. There was no soot or stippling around the wound.

The path of the bullet was from the back to the front, right to left, and

slightly downward. She recovered a bullet from the tissue around Mr. Car-

rigan's heart. (Beck RP 614,11. 19-23; RP 618,11. 2-6; RP 623,11. 3-12; RP

626,11.3-11)

There was also an abrasion on Mr. Carrigan's lower back. Dr. Fino

described it as a concentric contusion suggestive of impact by a projectile;
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but not conclusive. She opined that it could also be a blunt impact injury

when Mr. Carrigan's body struck the ground. (Beck RP 619, 11. 10-17; RP

620,11. 1-9; 11. 14-20). (Emphasis supplied.)

John Jennings was interviewed by Detective Heyen. He said he was

making tea, heard a loud bang which he recognized as a gunshot, and

dropped to the floor. He heard additional gunshots. Some were closer and

some were not as loud as the first shot. Mr. Jennings further described the

gunshots as being fi-om a shotgun (loud) and single shot (quieter). (Beck

RP 694,11. 21-25; RP 695,11. 1-5; RP 700,11. 3-24)

According to Mr. Stover, Mr. Carrigan fired his shotgun twice. Mr.

Stover then heard two (2) additional shots. (Beck RP 496, 11. 21-24; RP

498,11. 22-24; RP 501,11. 12-15)

Mr. Jennings is blind in one eye. He needs a scope to be able to

even shoot one hundred and fifty (150) yards. He is also on oxygen. He

continued to suffer medical problems during trial. (CP 177; Beck RP 708,

11. 10-12; RP 1026,1. 25 to RP 1027,1. 23; RP 1028,11. 2-14; RP 1043,1. 22

to RP 1046,1. 3)

Mr. Wyant. a firearms examiner with the Washington State Patrol

Crime Laboratory (WSPCL), was asked to examine the fatal bullet in rela

tion to test fired bullets. He filed a report dated January 15, 2014. He was

unable to identify any bullets fired by the revolver as being the same as the

fatal bullet. The results were again inconclusive. (Beck RP 786,11. 15-25;

RP 787,11. 16-22)



Mr. Wyant was also asked to determine; the range and penetration

capability of a High Standard revolver. (Exhibit 85)

He used the sights on the revolver to target a gel test dummy. He

determined that the revolver could penetrate a human body at a hundred and

fifty (150) yards. (Beck RP 789,11. 1-22; RP 791,11. 22-25; RP 795,11. 2-

3)

Mr. Wyant and Matthew Noedel, a forensic consultant retained by

the defense, agreed that the fatal bullet did not reflect slippage and gas ero

sion. However, the bullets test fired from the revolver did show slippage

and erosion. (Beck RP 809,1. 20 to RP 810,1. 24; RP 957,1. 21 to RP 958,

1. 2; RP 972,11. 8-20; RP 1007,11. 18-20; 1. 22)

Detective Sloan interviewed Adam Jennings. Adam denied shoot

ing Mr. Carrigan. He said his father did not shoot Mr. Carrigan. (Beck RP

886,11. 12-20).

5. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Mr. Jennings asserts that the Court of Appeals gave short shrift to

his argument concerning accomplice liability. The Court's decision con

tains the following summary of its determination that sufficient evidence

was provided:

... [SJufficient evidence permitted a reasona
ble jury to find that both men were involved
in the commission of the crime. The men had

barricaded the cabin with firewood, placed
targets on the property to practice shooting
from the cabin itself, and had a stockpile of
guns and ammunition inside the cabin. Two
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days before the shooting, John told Ms.
Blasingame-Scott at the Mercantile, '"If any
hunters come on my property we'll shoot
them.'" IV RP (November 19, 2015) at 843
(Emphasis added). In agreement, Adam nod
ded as his father revealed his compact firearm
to the locals. Two days later, a hunter ap
peared on or near John's property and either
John or Adam shot and killed the hunter. Be

cause they had both prepared for the event de- .
scribed by John, affirmed by Adam, and two
days later performed by one of them, we con
clude that the State presented sufficient evi
dence for a reasonable trier of fact to find that

both were involved in committing the crime,
whether as a principal or as an accomplice.

RCW 9A.08.020 provides, in part:

(1) A person is guilty of a crime if it is com
mitted by the conduct of another person
for which he or she is legally accounta
ble.

(2) A person is legally accountable for the
conduct of another person when:

(c) He or she is ah accomplice of such other
person in the commission of a crime.

(3) A person is an accomplice of another per
son in the commission of a crime if:

(a) With knowledge that it will promote or
facilitate the commission of the crime, he
or she:

(i) Solicits, commands, encourages, or re
quests such other person to commit it; or

(ii) Aids or agrees to aid such other person in
planning or committing it; or

(4) His or her conduct is expressly declared
by law to establish his or her complicity.

There is no indication that RCW 9A.08.020(4) has any application

to the facts and circumstances of Mr. Jennings' case.



The critical evidence presented by the State against Mr. Jennings

was the testimony of Bormie Scott. On the Saturday prior to September 2,

2013 Ms. Scott indicated that Mr. Jeimings made the following statement

while at the Chesaw Store: "If any hunters come on my property we'll shoot

them." (BeckRP 841,11. 11-17; RP 843,11. 20-24)

The State did not present any evidence that Mr. Jennings solicited,

commanded, encouraged, or requested his son to shoot Michael Carrigan.

The issue is whether or not Mr. Jennings aided or agreed to aid his

son in planning or committing the crime of premeditated first degree mur

der. In addition, another issue is whether or not Mr. Jennings is the principal

actor.

The likelihood of Mr. Jennings being the principal actor is minimal.

He is blind in one (1) eye. He needs the use of an oxygen tank. He has

other medical issues requiring him to use a cane when he walks.

In this state when it cannot be determined

which of two defendants actually committed
a crime, and which encouraged or counseled,
it is not necessary to establish the role of
each. It is sufficient if there is a showing that
each defendant was involved in the commis

sion of the crime, having committed at least
one overt act....

State V. Baylor, 17 Wn. App. 616, 618, 565 P.2d 99 (1977); see also: State

V. McCreven, 170 Wn. App. 444, All, 284 P.3d 793 (2012). (Emphasis

supplied.)

QUERY: What overt act did John Jennings commit?
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QUERY: Does the statement allegedly made by Mr. Jennings to

Bonnie Scott constitute an overt act?

The phrase "overt act" has been defined in caselaw involving an at

tempt to commit a crime. ^

... (A]n overt act is sometimes described as a
direct, ineffectual act done toward commis
sion of a crime and, where the design of a per
son to commit a crime is clearly shown, slight
acts done in furtherance of this design will
constitute an attempt.

State V. Nicholson, 77 Wn.2d 415, 420, 463 P.2d 633 (1969).

It is clear that there must be an act, it must be direct, and it must

have been done with the intent to commit a crime.

The State did not establish that Mr. Jennings pulled the trigger.

The State did not establish that Mr. Jennings did anything on Sep

tember 2, 2013 directed toward the death of Michael Carrigan.

... '[A]s a general rule, every crime must
contain two elements: (1) an actus reus and
(2) a mens rea.' Eaton [State v. Eaton, 143
Wn. App. 155, 177 P.3d 157 (2008)] at 160
(citing State v. Utter, 4 Wn. App. 137, 139,
479 P.2d,946 (1971)). "Actus reus" is de
fined as "'[t]he wrongful deed that comprises
the physical components of a crime,'" Id. (al
teration in original) (quoting Black's Law
Dictionary 39 (8'*' ed. 2004)), and the "mens
rea" is "'[t]he state of mind that the prosecu
tion ... must prove that a defendant had when
committing a crime.'" Id. (alterations in orig
inal) (quoting Black's, at 1006). At
common law it was said that "to constitute a

crime against human laws, there must be,
first, a vitious will; and, secondly, an unlaw
ful act consequent upon such vitious will." 5

7



William Blackstone, Commentaries

*21

State V. Eaton, 168 Wn.2d 476, 480-81, 229 P.3d 704 (2010).

The State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, any overt act

on the part of John Jennings.

Mere presence of the defendant without
aiding the principal - despite knowledge of
the ongoing criminal activity - is not suffi
cient to establish accomplice liahility. State
V. Parker, 60 Wn. App. 719, 724-25, 806
P.2d 1241 (1991). Rather, the State must
prove that the defendant was ready to assist
the principal in the crime and that he shared
in the criminal intent of the principal, thus
"demonstrating a community of unlawful
purpose at the time the act was committed."
State V. Castro, 32 Wn. App. 559, 564, 648
P.2d 485 (1982); see also State v. Collins, 16
Wn. App. 496, 501-02, 886 P.2d 243 (1995)

.  ("Aid can be accomplished by being present
and ready to assist."); State v. Rotunno, 95
Wn.2d 931, 933, 631 P.2d 951 (1981) ....

State v. Truong, 168 Wn. App. 529, 540, 277 P.3d 74 (2012). (Emphasis

supplied.)

The State only established that Mr. Jennings was present in the cabin

when the shooting occurred.

There was no evidence that Mi'. Jennings had knowledge of ongoing

criminal activity.

In order to establish that Mr. Jennings was an accomplice to the

crime the State needed to establish that there was an agreement between



him and his son and that he aided his son in fulfilling that agreement. (Em

phasis supplied)

As noted in State v. Asaeli, 150 Wn. App. 543, 568, 208 P.3d 1136

(2009):

To prove Vaielua was an accomplice to
Fola's murder, the State had to prove beyond
a reasonable doubt that Vaielua (1) knew his
actions would promote or facilitate this
crime, (2) was present and ready to assist in
some manner, and (3) was not merely present
at the scene with some knowledge of poten
tial criminal activity. ... Taking the evidence
in the light most favorable to the State, we
conclude that, although there was evidence
that Vaielua was present at the park, that he
drove Williams and others to the park, and
that he was aware that some members of the

group he was with were trying to locate Fola,
the evidence failed to show that Vaielua was

present at the scene with more than mere
knowledge of some potential interaction with
Fola.

Mr. Jennings asserts that the State did no better than the prosecution

in the Asaeli case in its attempt to establish accomplice liability. It clearly

failed to present any evidence that Mr. Jennings was the principal.

"The State may use evidentiary devices, such as presumptions and

inferences, to assist it in meeting its burden of proof, though they are not

favored in criminal law." State v. Cantu, 156 Wn.2d 819, 826, 132 P.3d

725 (2006).



The State, in Mr. Jennings' case, attempted to pull a rabbit out of its

hat. The State was attempting, through inferences, to implicate him in com

mission of the offense.

The State proceeded against both Mr. Jennings and his son because

they could not determine who actually pulled the trigger. Nevertheless, the

State was still required to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Mr. Jen

nings was either a principal or an accomplice. It did not do so.

Ml". Jennings recognizes that

... A jury is not required to determine which
participant acted as a principal and which
participant acted as an accomplice. State v.
Hoffman, 116 Wn.2d 51, 104-05, 804 P.2d
577 (1991). The jury need only conclude
unanimously that both the principal and
accomplice participated in a crime. Hoff
man, 116 Wn.2d at 104-05.

Personal Restraint of Heggney, 138 Wn. App. 511, 524, 158 P.3d 1193

(2007). (Emphasis supplied.)

Again, the State failed to present sufficient evidence that Mr. Jen

nings was either the principal or an accomplice in this case. As the State

recognized in its brief:

The evidence in this case was sufficient for a

rational trier of fact to find Adams Jennings
guilty as the principal. The fatal shots were
fired from the window in the room belonging
to Adam Jennings. Targets had been set up
around the residence in a manner that Adam

Jennings would be firing shots from his bed
room window, in the same direction as the fa
tal shots killing Mr. Carrington. Adam Jen
nings had binoculars, a gun rack, firearms, a
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speed loader, and ammunition setup around
the window as preparation for. firing at any
hunters that came on the property. The bullet
fragment found in Mr. Carrington's body was
consistence with a CCI Stinger which
matched ammunition found in Adam Jen

nings room. Adam Jennings had unrestricted
access to multiple .22 caliber firearms. Adam
Jennings' window had markings on the lower
sill consistent with a firearm rubbing on the
sill.

(State's brief, pp 13-14.)

There is no aiding and abetting unless one as
sociates himself with the venture and partici
pates in it as something he wishes to bring
about, and by action to make it succeed.
State V. Gladstone, 78 Wn.2d 306, 311, 474
P.2d 274, 42 A.L.A. 3d 1061 (1970). It must
be shown that the aider shared in the criminal

intent of the principal and there must be a
community of unlawful purpose at the
time the act is committed.

State V. Boast, 87 Wn.2d 447, 456, 553 P.2d 1322 (1976) (Emphasis sup

plied).

There was no evidence presented that John Jennings took any action

on the date when Michael Carrington was killed.

There was no evidence presented that Mr. Jennings was aware of

what Adam Jennings was doing in his bedroom.

Mr. Jennings heard two loud shots comparable to a shotgun (Mi

chael Carrington's shots). He then heard two other shots that were closer to

the house (Adam Jennings' shots).
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There is no evidence that Mr. Jennings observed any shots being

fired at Mr. Carrington.

Under the accomplice liability statute, RCW
9A.08.020, "A person is not an accomplice
unless [that person] knowingly 'solicits,
commands, encourages, or requests' the com
mission of a crime, or aids in the planning or
commission [of the crime]. [P]hysical
presence and assent alone are insufficient to
constitute aiding and abetting.... [S]omething
more than presence alone plus knowledge of
ongoing activity must be shown to establish
the intent requisite to finding [an accused] to
be an accomplice.

State V. Everybodytalksabout, 145 Wn.2d 456, 472, 39 P.3d 294 (2002),

quoting In re Welfare of Wilson, 91 Wn.2d 487, 491-92, 588 P.2d 1161

(1979).

Mr. Jennings was present inside the cabin when the shots were fired

at Mr. Carrington. This, along with his statement two days prior to the

shooting, does not constitute sufficient evidence of accomplice liability.

6. CONCLUSION

The State's case essentially revolved around the statement made by

John Jennings to Bonnie Blasingame-Scott. The fact of the so-called pro

tective barriers and targets have nothing to do with an alleged agreement to

kill individuals who come onto the Jennings' property.

Mr. Jennings asserts that the absence of any overt act by him on the

date of Mr. Carrigan's death precludes a detennination that he was an ac

complice to what his son Adam did.
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The evidence was insufficient to establish guilt beyond a reasonable

doubt and the conviction should be reversed.

DATED this 26th day of July, 2018.

Respectfully submitted,

s/ Dennis W. Morgan
DENNIS W. MORGAN WSBA#5286

Attorney for Defendant/Appellant
PC Box 1019

Republic, Washington 99166
Telephone: (509) 775-0777
nodblspk@rcabletv. com
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JUNE 28,2018
In the Office of the Clerk of Court

WA State Court of Appeals, Division III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION THREE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

ADAM S. JENNINGS,

Appellant.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

JOHN WAYNE JENNINGS,

Appellant.

No. 33910.6-m

(consolidated with
No. 33932-7-m)

UNPUBLISHED OPINION

Lawrence-Berrey, C.J. — John Jennings appeals his convictions for first degree

murder and delivery of a firearm to an ineligible person. Adam Jennings, John's son,

appeals his convictions for first degree murder and unlawful possession of a firearm.

Both men argue that insufficient evidence supports their convictions, their right to



No. 33910-6-in; No. 33932-7-III

State V. Adam Jennings', State v. John Jennings

conflict-free counsel was violated, prosecutorial misconduct during closing arguments,

and cumulative error. We reverse John's conviction for delivery of a firearm to an

ineligible person, but otherwise affirm all convictions.

FACTS

On September 2, 2013, Michael Carrigan was shot and killed while hunting in

northern Okanogan County. This appeal involve-s the murder trial for his death.

On November 18, 2013, the State charged John and Adam Jennings with

premeditated first degree murder, each carrying a firearm enhancement. The State also -

charged John with unlawful deliveiy of a firearm to an ineligible person and Adam with

unlawful possession of a firearm. On November 19, 2015, Adam stipulated he was

convicted of a serious offense and thus ineligible to possess or control a firearm. The

following facts were presented at the Jemiings's joint jury trial.

1. Trial testimony and verdict

George Stover, a family member and longtime hunting partner of Mr. Carrigan,

was first to testify. In September 2013, Mr. Stover went grouse hunting and deer scouting

in a small group: himself, Mr. Carrigan, and Mr. Cairigan's brother. They drove six

hours to the Pontiac Ridge area in northeastern Okanogan County and stayed in a cabin

there. Mr. Stover aiid Mr. Carrigan went out to hunt and scout in then- vehicle. Around
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State V. Adam Jennings', State v. John Jennings

7:00 p.m. that evening, about one mile from their cabin, they passed by Cow Camp Road,

and Mr. Carrigan saw a grouse in a large meadow. He stopped the car, walked into the

meadow, and shot at the grouse. He fired one shot, the grouse began to fly away, and he

then fired a second shot. Mr. Stover stayed in the truck.

Almost immediately after Mr. Carrigan's second shot, Mr. Stover heard a gunshot

from a cabin behind him. Mr. Carrigan was hit by the gunshot and fell to the ground. Mr.

Stover looked at the cabin but did not see the shooter. He stayed in the truck. Mr.

Carrigan began to get up and walk back to the truck. Another shot was fired from the

cabin. That shot also hit Mr. Carrigan. He dropped to his knees and rolled onto his back.

Mr. Stover drove away to get help, sitting as far back in his truck as possible when he

drove past the cabin. When Mr. Stover came back with iaw enforcement, he helped

officers find Mr. Carrigan in the meadow. Mr. Carrigan was dead.

Around 8:30 p.m., officers using a loudspeaker directed anyone in the cabin to

come out. John and Adam came out. Officers saw no evidence of any other people near

the field.

Directly after coming out of the house, and in response to law enforcement's

questions, John told officers that he was making tea when he heard the shots and got on
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State V. Adam Jennings', State v. John Jennings

the floor. He also told officers there were a number of firearms in the cabin, some of

which were locked up, and that his son had pistols by his bed.

An officer arrested Adam on an outstanding warrant for failing to appear for

driving with a suspended license. Officers took John to a motel for the night. To

preserve the scene, officers stayed on site until the next morning, until roughly 6:30 a.m.

The Jennings's cabin, including the surrounding property, was searched on

September 3, 2013. One of the two bedrooms in the cabin was identified as Adam's

because it contained his clothing and medication. Adam's bedroom window had a clear

line of sight to where Mr. Carrigan's body had been found, 134 yards away. Additionally,

officers found binoculars on a plastic barrel by Adam's open bedroom window and a box

of CCI Stinger .22 ammunition nearby. The box of ammunition had both modified and

unmodified bullets. A number of speed loaders were also found in Adam's bedroom,

loaded with .22 ammunition. The base of the window had a number of marks or scrapes

on it. The miarks or scrapes were consistent with a rifle or shotgun having been fired

while resting on the base of the window.

Later that day, law enforcement interviewed John at the motel. John stated that at

the time of the murder, he and Adam were inside the cabin after unloading firewood.

John said he was making tea when he heard the gunshots, and they immediately got on the
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State V. Adam Jennings', State v. John Jennings

floor. He explained that it was safer on the ground because they had taken precautions to

keep people off their property; they stacked firewood as a bairicade and stretched out

1,300 feet of barbed wire along one side of the property. He explained that because of the

barricades, a person from the Cow Camp Road side of their property would have to come

around the barricades and, '"it would still leave [them] a lot of time to, you know, yell

and scream at people.'" III-B Report of Proceedings (RP) (Nov. 18, 2015) at 699. When

asked about the guns in the cabin, John told law enforcement that all the guns in the cabin

were his and that they were all registered to him, or unregistered and bought from stores.

When asked about his son's gun preferences, John explained that '"he carries pretty much

what I carry. It's a .22 pistol.'" Id. at 712. John said a .22 rifle had been stolen years

earlier, and he tried to report it to the police.' John also said that he was legally blind in

one eye—so if he uses a long gun, he needs a scope. Seven of the firearms recovered

from the cabin were registered to John but many firearms were unregistered.

On September 4, 2013, law enforcement interviewed Adam. Adam said that he

had unloaded firewood with his father and was rolling a cigarette when he heard the

gunshots. He said he then dropped to the ground and heard a vehicle drive away. He

denied that he or his father shot Mr. Carrigan.

An officer testified that he reviewed records and could not find any such report.
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State V. Adam Jennings', State v. John Jennings

Law enforcement executed another search warrant on November 19, 2013. Arrest

warrants for John and Adam were executed the same day.

The searches revealed targets set up around the property. The targets were placed

at varying distances and heights. All targets faced the cabin, so a person standing at the

cabin would be facing the targets. John had earlier told officers that the targets had not

been used in a long time. John's statement was inconsistent with the fresh, unweathered

holes through many of the targets. There were thousands of holes in the targets and trees

surrounding them. Many holes were indicative of shots from a .22 firearm.

During the autopsy, the medical examiner recovered a bullet near Mr. Carrigan's

heart. The bullet was consistent with a .22 rifle bullet, specifically a CCI Stinger bullet.

The bullet was damaged, making identification of the gun that fired it more difficult.

Washington State Patrol fireaim examiners tested many of the guns recovered

from the cabin, but none were conclusively the firearm that fired the fatal shot. The

results of one firearm recovered from the cabin, a .22 caliber High Standard revolver,

were inconclusive. The revolver had some similarities—for example, the revolver could

penetrate a body at 150 yards and the distance from the cabin to Mr. Carrigan's body was

134 yards. A firearm examiner testified that the revolver could have fired the recovered

bullet.
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State V. Adam Jennings', State v. John Jennings '

Bonnie Blasingame-Scott testified about a conversation she had with John on

August 31, 2013, two days prior to the shooting. Ms. Blasingame-Scott worked at the

local Chesaw Mercantile. Ms. Blasingame-Scott had only met Adam and John as

customers at the store. They placed bulk orders about once per month at the mercantile.
1

Two days before the shooting, John and Adam came into the store. Some locals were

having a "light-hearted" conversation about the upcoming hunting season and how

hunters were a pain. IV RP (Nov. 19, 2015) at 843. Ms. Blasingame-Scott commented

that she puts ribbons around the neck of her livestock so hunters do not shoot them. John

then said, '"If any hunters come on my property we'll shoot them.'" Id. John did not

laugh. Adam nodded along to his father's statement. John then pulled back his coat to

show a compact firearm under his long coat. The joking about hunters did not resume

after John's statement.

After the five-day trial, the jury found John and Adam guilty of premeditated first

degree murder, each with a firearm enhancement. The jury also found John guilty of

unlawful delivery of a firearm to an ineligible person, and Adam guilty of unlawful

possession of a firearm.
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2. Conflict-free COUNSEL

The Jennings's claim that they were denied conflict-free counsel is based on a

purported conflict of interest between Melissa MacDougall, who represented Adam, and

Michael Prince, who assisted in John's representation. We review what each attorney

did, and who they represented throughout the lower court proceeding.

In December 2013, Ms. MacDougall and Mr. Prince were law partners. That

month, Ms. MacDougall, Mr. Prince, and a third attorney with the firm signed a notice of

appearance on behalf of Adam. Thereafter, Mr. Prince occasionally appeared in court on

ministerial matters for Adam.

The trial court understood Mr. Prince's limited role. During a status conference

hearing, the trial court told Adam that he was represented only by Ms. MacDougall, but

that Mr. Prince occasionally covered her cases as her law partner. After explaining this,

the trial court asked, "And so, you understand what Mr. Prince is doing today?"

RP (Dec. 15, 201-1—Status Conference Re: Adam) at 71. Adam replied, "Yes, Your

Honor." Id. Additionally, Ms. MacDougall specifically told the trial court in 2014 that

she was doing Adam's case by herself and that Mr. Prince was not working on Adam's

case.



No. 33910-6-III; No. 33932-7-III

State V. Adam Jennings', State v. John Jennings

On June 22, 2015, Ms. MacDougall and Mr. Prince ended their legal partnership

with a formal agreement. Ms. MacDougall continued as counsel for Adam.

In September 2015, three months after their law partnership ended, Mr. Prince

began assisting John's attorney, Myles Johnson, That month, Mr. Prince filed a motion

for trial continuance. Prior to hearing the motion, the trial court noted, "Ms. MacDougall

represents Adam Jennings, she's here. Mr. Prince, you represent John Jennings." RP

(Sept. 22, 2015—^Motion Hearing) at 179. During the hearing, Mr. Prince explained to

the court:

Now, I guess I let the Court know ... obviously I have been around
... during the pendency of these cases. Even though my name originally
appeared with Ms. MacDougall on her case, I never put in any work on that
case, that—I was working in District Court at that timep^ But I guess I let
the Court know that I am aware of a lot of what's gone on in these cases
and so I feel that I could be up to speed very quickly.

Id. at 189 (emphasis added),

During trial, Ms. MacDougall represented Adam, and Mr. Johnson and Mr. Prince

were John's attorneys. The record shows that Mr. Johnson had the lead role at trial, while

^ The record strongly implies that when Adam was arrested in September 2013,
Mr. Prince represented Adam on the district court driving while license suspended matter.
As reflected by the italicized comment, Mr. Prince was not working in district court m
September 2015. We infer from this that Mr. Prince was no longer representing Adam in
the district court matter when Mr. Prince began representing John in September 2015.



No. 33910.6-in; No. 33932-7-III

State V. Adam Jennings', State v. John Jennings

Mr. Prince had a subordinate role. Mr. Prince's trial participation was limited to

preparing jury insti-uctions and questioning ballistics witnesses.

ANALYSIS

On appeal, John and Adam raise five issues. We address them in the order raised

in their briefs.

1. Sufficiency OF THE EVIDENCE

John challenges the sufficiency of the evidenee for his conviction of delivery of a

firearm to an ineligible person. John and Adam both challenge the sufficiency of the

evidence for their convictions for premeditated first degree murder.

A defendant's challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence requires the reviewing

court to view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and determine "whether

any rational trier of fact could have found the elements of the charged crime beyond a

reasonable doubt." State v. Brown, 162 Wn.2d 422, 428, 173 P.3d 245 (2007). "A claim

of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably

can be drawn therefrom." State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992).

"[A]ll reasonable inferences from the evidence [are] inteipreted most strongly against the

defendant." Id. "In determining the sufficiency of the evidence, circumstantial evidence

10
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is not to be considered any less reliable than direct evidence." State v. Delmarter, 94

Wn.2d b34, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980).

Neither John nor Adam objected to the giving of any jury instruction or excepted

to the failure to give any instruetion. Therefore, the court's instructions to the jury

constitute the law of the case, and we review the sufficiency of the evidence based on the

elements contained in the to-convict instructions. State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 101-

02, 954 P.2d 900(1998).

Deliveiy of a firearm to an ineligible person—John

RCW 9.41.080 provides in relevant part:

No person may deliver a firearm to any person whom he or she has
reasonable cause to believe is ineligible under RCW 9,41.040 to possess a
firearm. Any person violating this section is guilty of a class C felony....

(Emphasis added).

The trial court's to-convict instruction on this count provided, in relevant part:

To convict the defendant, John Jennings, of the crime of unlawful
delivery of a firearm, each of the following efeinents of the crime rnust be
proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) That on or about September 2, 2013, the defendant delivered a
firearm to Adam Jennings',

(2) That the defendant had reasonable cause to believe that Adam

Jennings was ineligible to possess a firearm because he was previously '
convicted in this state or elsewhere of a serious offense; and

(3) That the delivery occurred in the State of Washington.

11
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CP (No. 33910-6-III, Adam) at 51 (emphasis added).

John primarily challenges element 1, that he "delivered" a firearm to his son.

Neither chapter 9.41 RCW nor decisional law defines "delivered" in this context. Our

objective when interpreting a statute is to detennine the legislature's intent. State v.

Ervin, 169 Wn.2d 815, 82{), 239 P.3d 354 (2010). The surest indication of such intent is

the language used by the legislature; so if the language is plain on its face, we give effect

to that plain meaning. Id. In determining the plain meaning of a provision, we look to

the statutory text, related statutory provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole. Id.

With respect to the statutory text, the parties have offered differing definitions of

"deliver." We note that some definitions require an actual handing over of an item, while

others are less stringent and require as little as permissive tise. Because the term

"deliver" is susceptible to more dian one meaning, the statutory text does not assist us in

our plain meaning analysis. With respect to related provisions or statutory scheme, there

is nothing that assists our analysis.

When there is no plain meaning of a provision, the statute is ambiguous; in that

event, we may resort to legislative history, relevant case law, and rules of statutory

construction in discerning legislative intent. Id. at 820.

12
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With respect to legislative history, neither the parties nor we have found any that

assist in our analysis. With respect to relevant case law, the State cites cases eonstruing

former RCW 69.50.101(f) (2013), which defines "deliver" in the context of the unlawful

delivery of eontrolled substances. There, the statute itself defines "delivery" as including

the "eonstructive transfer from one person to another." Id. We rejeet the State's

invitation to apply cases that construe former RCW 69.50.101(f). Those cases construe a

statute that explicitly includes both aetual and construetive delivery; here, the statute does

not explicitly include construetive delivery.

Having exhausted these primary tools of statutory construetion, we are left with

applying the rule of lenity. The rule ensures fair warning by resolving ambiguity in a

eriminal statute as to apply it only to conduct clearly covered. United States v. Lanier,

520 U.S. 259, 266, 117 S. Ct. 1219,137 L. Ed. 2d 432 (1997); State v. Bradshaw, 3 Wn.

App. 2d 187, 195, 414 P.3d 1148 (2018). When we must ehoose between two readings of

what conduct the legislature has made a crime, we should require, before we chOse the

harsher alternative, that the legislature speak in clear and definite language. State v.

Weatherwax, 188 Wn.2d 139, 155, 392 P.3d 1054 (2017)!

Applying the rule of lenity, this author eonstrues "deliver" narrowly to require the

actual physical delivery of a firearm. This narrow definition does not criminalize the

13
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mere permitting of another to use one's firearm. Had the legislature intended to

criminalize such passive conduct, it could have by saying so. It did not.

We note that circumstantial evidence is entitled to as much weight as direct

evidence. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d at 638. Here, John purchased numerous guns and kept

them unlocked in his cabin. Also, Adam had a key to John's gun safe, and John admitted

that Adam used his guns. From this evidence, a reasonable trier of fact might find beyond

a reasonable doubt that John actually delivered at least one firearm to Adam at some time.

But there was no evidence, direct or circumstantial, that John actually delivered a

fireaim to Adam on or about September 2, 2013. The State was required to prove beyond

a reasonable doubt this temporal component of the to-convict instruction. State v. Jensen,

125 Wn. App. 319, 325-26, 104 P.3d 717 (2005).^ For this reason, a majority of the panel

concludes that the State failed to present sufficient evidence on this element, and we

reverse John's conviction on this particular count.

^ The dissent cites State v. Hayes, 81 Wn. App. 425,432-33, 914 P.2d 788 (1996)
for the proposition that the State need not prove the temporal component of the jury
instruction unless the defendant raised an alibi defense at trial. Hayes does not stand for
that proposition. In Hayes, the defendant did not argue the Hickman issue on appeal, i.e.,
that the State failed to prove the temporal component of the jury instruction. Instead, the
defendant argued that the State failed to prove the temporal component in the "charging
period." Id. at 432. That is not the issue here.

14
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Premeditated First Degree Murder—John and Adam

John and Adam tacitly concede the State produced sufficient evidence tliat

someone from inside the cabin shot Mr. Carrigan on September 2, 2013. They contend

that there was insufficient evidence that either acted as a principal and there was

insufficient evidence that the other assisted or was ready to assist the principail. Their

arguments require us to review the law of criminal accomplice liability.

A person is an accomplice to a crime if "[w]ith knowledge that it will promote or

facilitate the commission of the crime, he or she ... encourages ... another person to

commit [the crime] or... [a]ids or agrees to aid such other person in planning or

committing [the crime]." RCW 9A.08.020(3). "[A] jury is not required to determine

which participant acted as a principal and which participant acted as an accomplice." In

re Pers. Restraint ofHegney, 138 Wn. App. 511, 524,158 P.3d 1193 (2007). Instead,

"[t]he jury need only conclude unanimously that both the principal and accomplice

participated in the crime." Id. It does not matter if some jurors believed that the

defendant fired the fatal shot, while others believed that the defendant was simply an

accomplice. State v. Hojfman, 116 Wn.2d 51, 104, 804 P.2d 577 (1991). This is because

"[ajccompUce liability represents a legislative decision that one who participates in a

crime is guilty as a principal, regardless of the degree of the participation." Id.

15
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More particular to the situation here:

In this state when it cannot be determined which of two defendants

actually committed a crime, and which one encouraged or counseled, it is
not necessary to establish the role of each. It is sufficient if there is a
showing that each defendant was involved in the commission of the crime,
having committed at least one overt act....

State V. Baylor, 17 Wn. App. 616, 618, 565 P.2d 99 (1977).

Here, the evidence was sufficient for a reasonable trier of fact to find beyond a

reasonable doubt that John or Adam was the shooter and that the other was involved in

the crime's commission. First, the evidence sufficiently establishes beyond a reasonable

doubt that either John or Adam was the shooter. Mr. Carrigan was shot by a .22 Stinger

round similar to the .22 Stingers found in Adam's bedroom, Adam's bedroom window

had a clear view to where Mr. Carrigan was shot, and Mr. Carrigan was killed within

range of at least one of the .22 guns found in Adam's bedroom.

Second, sufficient evidence permitted a reasonable jury to find that both men were

involved in the commission of the crime. The men had barricaded the cabin with

firewood, placed targets on the property to practice shooting from the cabin itself, and had

a stockpile of guns and ammunition inside the cabin. Two days before the shooting, John

told Ms. Blasingame-Scott at the mercantile, "'If any hunters come on my property we'll

shoot them.'" IV RP (Nov. 19, 2015) at 843 (emphasis added). In agreement, Adam

16
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nodded as his father revealed his compact firearm to the locals. Two days later, a hunter

appeared on or near John's property and either John or Adam shot and killed the hunter.

Because they had both prepared for the event described by John, affirmed by Adam, and

two days later performed by one of them, we conclude that the State presented sufficient

evidence for a reasonable trier of fact to find that both were involved in committing the

crime, whether as a principal or as an accomplice.

2. Right to conflict-free counsel

John and Adam argue that their attorneys, Ms. MacDougall and Mr. Prince, had

conflicts of interest that violated their Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution

right to conflict-free counsel.

The Sixth Amendment provides that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused

shall enjoy the right... to have the assistanee of counsel for his defense." This right

includes the right to the assistance of a conflict-free attorney. State v. Dhaliwal, 150

Wn.2d 559, 566, 79 P.3d 432 (2003).

In Holloway v. Arkansas, 435 U.S. 475, 477, 98 S. Ct. 1173, 55 L. Ed. 2d 426

(1978), one defense attorney represented three codefendants. The defense attorney timely

informed the trial court of conflicts of interest requiring separate counsel, but the trial

court refused to consider appointing separate counsel. Id. The United States Supreme

17
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Court held that state trial courts are required to investigate timely objections to multiple

representation. Id. at 490-91- In a subsequent case, Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335,

346-47, ICQ S. Ct. 1708, 64 L. Ed. 2d 333 (1980), the Supreme Court clarified that

"[ajbsent special circumstances,... trial courts may assume either that multiple

representation entails no conflict or that the lawyer and his clients knowingly accept such

risk of conflict as may exist." Thus, reversal is not required if a trial court knows of a

potential conflict but fails to inquire when no objection is raised. Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d at

571. The Supreme Court in Sullivan explained, '"An attorney representing two

defendants in a criminal matter is in the best position professionally and ethically to

determine when a conflict of interest exists or will probably develop in the course of a

trial.'" Sullivan, 446 U.S. at 347 (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Holloway,

435 U.S. at 485).

Neither defendant advised the trial court of the purported conflict
of interest

We first must determine if anyone advised the trial court of a purported conflict of

interest between Ms. MacDougall and Mr. Prince, We note that no attorney brought such

an issue before the trial court. Both John and Adam cite a May 2015 letter written by

John to the trial court. For the benefit of the reader, we have edited the letter to correct

more than a dozen spelling en'ors:

18
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I am writing to request an attorney ad litem be appointed to research
this ease and offer a friend of the cbmt brief.

I believe this is needed to ensure a fair trial if need be. I further

believe that a conflict of interest exists between the needs of myself and my
son and our court appointed attorneys. It would seem to me our attorneys
have their own agenda and are not wanting to zealously defend us.
Furthermore I believe Ms. MacDougall has only her political agenda in
mind and Mr. Blount can't think of anything but his future personal
financial affluence.

CP (No. 33932-7-ni, John) at 22Q.

This letter did not advise the trial court of a purported conflict of interest between

Ms. MaeDougall and Mr. Prince. The letter instead advised the trial court of a purported

conflict of interest between Ms. MacDougall and John's former attorney, Nicholas

Blount.

No showing that counsel had a conflict that adversely impacted
petformance

When a defendant fails to advise the trial court of a purported conflict of interest, a

defendant is not, entitled to relief unless the defendant can show that counsel had a

conflict that adversely affected counsel's performance. DhaUwal, 150 Wn.2d at 569.

Here, Mr. Prince did not participate hi John's defense until September 2015. By

that time, he and Ms. MacDougall no longer were law partners, and his district court

representation of Adam had concluded. Mr. Prince's participation in John's felony

19



No. 33910-6-III; No. 33932-7-ni

State V. Adam Jennings', State v. John Jennings

defense was very limited. From September 2015 through trial, Mr. Prince represented

John. But Mr. Prince's role was secondary to John's primary counsel, Mr. Johnson.

The Jennings argue that Mr. Prince likely had a role in the decision to pursue a

unified defense rather than having one defendant point to the other as the principal. Their

argument belies the fact that Mr. Prince's involvement in Adam's defense was very

minimal and his later involvement with John's defense was secondary, assisting Jolm's

primary counsel. There is no evidence, apart from pure speculation, that Mr. Prince

played a role in deciding defense strategy. Rather, primary counsel for each defendant,

Ms. MacDougall and Mr. Johnson, likely decided defense strategy.

In his reply brief, John argues for the first time that Mr. Prince was precluded by

RPC 1.9 from representing him. RPC 1.9 sets forth an attorney's duties to a former

client. First, we will not consider an argument raised for the first time in a reply brief.

FPA Crescent Assocs., LLC v. Jamie's, LLC, 190 Wn. App. 666, 679, 360 P.3d 934

(2015). Second, John has no standing to assert a purported violation of the RPC, which

concerns duties to Adam, a former client. Foley-Ciccantelli v. Bishop's Grove Condo.

Ass 'n, 2011 W1 36, 333 Wis. 2d 402,438, 797 N.W.2d 789.
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3. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT CLAIM

Adam and John ̂ gue that the prosecutor made various statements during closing

arguments that constitute sufficient misconduct to warrant a new trial.

To succeed on their prosecutorial misconduct claims, Adam and John have the

biirden to establish the prosecutor's conduct was improper and prejudicial. In re Pers.

Restraint of Sandoval, 189 Wn.2d 811, 821,408 P.3d 675 (2018). "To be prejudicial, a

substantial likelihood must exist that the rnisconduct affected the jury's verdict." State v.

Davis, 175 Wn.2d 287, 331, 290 P.3d 43 (2012).

Additionally, in closing argument, a prosecutor "has wide latitude to argue

reasonable inferences from the evidence." State v. Thorgersori, 172 Wn.2d 438, 448, 258

P.3d 43 (2011). However, a prosecutor may not "comment on the lack of defense

evidence because the defendant has no duty to present evidence [and] the State bears the

whole burden of proving each element of the case beyond a reasonable doubt." State v.

Cleveland, 58 Wn. App. 634, 647,794 P.2d 546 (1990).

First claim of misconduct: referriiig to John and Adam jointly

John complains that the prosecutor, dtiring closing, often referred to Adam and

him collectively, rather than individually, thus confusing the jury on whether sufficient

evidence was presented to convict either.
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The State charged both John and Adam as principal or accomplice for the murder

of Mr. CaiTigan. The State's references to "they" or "them" was consistent with the

State's theory and argument that both participated and were involved in the murder. The

prosecutor had wide latitude to make that argument. The argument is also consistent with

the Washington rule that the jury does not have to decide which of two codefendants

pulled the trigger; only that both were involved in the crime. Hegney, 138 Wn. App. at

524.

As discussed above, there was substantial evidence that both John and Adam

participated in killing Mr. Carrigan, and this evidence pennitted a finding of accomplice

liability. We conclude that the prosecutor's arguments were based on the evidence and

not improper. Similarly, the prosecutor was not required to argue which defendant, John

or Adam, fired the lethal shot.

Second claim of misconduct: speculation about missing gun

John and Adam argue that the prosecutor committed misconduct by arguing that

they hid the murder weapon before law enforcement anuved. They assert that the

prosecutor's ai'gument was not based on the evidence and violated the trial court's order

in limine. We disagree.
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There were approximately 90 minutes between when Mr. Garrigan was shot and

when law enforcement arrived at the Jennings's cabin. During the search of the

Jennings's cabin, law enforcement found sawed-off gun barrels, but did not find the

sawed-off shotgun bases. The prosecutor explained during motions in limine that he

hoped the jury would draw the inference that Adam and John may have hidden guns in

that 90 minutes. The trial court excluded "officer opinion or prosecutorial comments, key

word there, opinion, about the defendants hiding guns.... Facts yes, opinions no." RP

(Nov. 13,2015—^Defense Motions in Limine) at 400.

At trial, the jury heard that law enforcement found sawed-off shotgun barrels but

not the bases. During closing, the prosecutor discussed this and then remarked:

The argument that, "Well, why do these other guns matter?" Well,
they matter for other counts directly. But they matter for this count, the
murder count, because in fact they show the defendants not only had
multiple weapons, and all the ammunition and everything else that went
along with that, but they also—manipulated and—got rid of some
weapons—very clearly. That's why it matters.

VIRP (Nov. 23, 2015) at 1121 (emphasis added).

The comment "got rid of some weapons" was a permissible inference based on the

evidence presented at trial. This statement is permissible in the wide latitude given to

prosecutors to argue inferences from the evidence in closing arguments.
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If the prosecutor's argument violated the order in limine, it was incumbent on the

Jennings to object. They did not. Their failure to object precludes our review of the

purported violation of the order in limine. State v. Sullivan, 69 Wn. App. 167, 171t73,

847 P.2d 953 (1993).

Third claim of misconduct: remark implying that the defendants had an
obligation to testify and present evidence

John and Adam argue that the prosecutor made an improper remark that shifted the

burden of proof to them and impacted their constitutional right to remain silent. The

prosecutor remarked:

The defendants—had the opportunity to have witnesses presented,
have you all consider the evidence, to weigh—^you have reasonable doubt
whether they committed the murder. None of which were offered
(inaudible).

VIRP (Nov. 23, 2015) at 1131 (emphasis added).

This remark was improper. In State v. Dixon, 150 Wn. App. 46, 55,207 P.3d 459

(2009), we held that a prosecutor may not comment about a defendant's failure to call a

witness if the comment would infringe on the defendant's right to remain silent. Here,

the only uncalled witnesses to the shooting were the defendants. For this reason, the

remark was improper.
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The remark was improper for an additional reason. The remark implied that the

defendants had an obligation to present evidence when no such obligation exists.

Cleveland,.5S Wn. App. at 647.

The Jennings did not object to the prosecutor's improper remark. The "' failure to

object to an improper remark constitutes a waiver of error unless the remark is so flagrant

and Ul intentioned that it causes an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have

been neutralized by an admonition to the jury.'" Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d at 443 (quoting
r.

State V. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994)). Thus, when a defendant did

not object below, relief can be granted only if the error was so egregious that it was

beyond cure by the trial judge. State v. Swan, 114 Wn.2d 613,661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990);

State v. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504, 507, 755 P.2d 174 (1988).

Here, the prosecutor did not repeat his improper remark. We find this important in

determining that the remark was not flagrant or ill-intentioned. Also, had John or Adam

Objected, the trial court would have sustained the objection arid could have instructed the

jury that the State had the burden of proving its case beyond a reasonable doubt, and

because of this, the Jennings had no obligation to present any witnesses or evidence. We

conclude that the prosecutor's remark, although improper, was not sufficiently egregious

that it could not have been cured by a proper instruction.
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4. Cumulative error claim

Adam and John argue that cumulative errors require reversal of both murder

convictions. "The cumulative error doctrine applies when several trial errors occurred

and none alone warrants reversal but the combined errors effectively denied the defendant

a fair trial." State v. Jackson, 150 Wn. App. 877, 889, 209 P.3d 553 (2009). "The

defendant beai's the burden of proving an accumulation of error of sufficient magnitude

that retrial is necessary." State v. Yarbwugh, 151 Wn. App. 66, 98, 210 P.3d 1029 (2009)

(citing In re Pers. Restraint of Lord, 123 Wn.2d 296, 332, 868 P.2d 835, 870 P.2d 964

(1994)). We have concluded that the only error relative to the murder convictions was the

prosecutor's one improper remark during closing and that error was waived by a lack of

objection. For this reason, there is no cumulative error.

5. Appellate COSTS

Adam asks the panel to exercise its discretion to waive costs on appeal. In

accordance with RAP 14.2, we defer the decision of appellate costs to our court

commissioner or clerk/administrator.
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Statement of Additional Grounds for Review

In a statement of additional grounds for review, Adam raises a general claim of

innocence. Because the claim contains no legal argument, his statement is insufficient for

review. RAP 10.10(c).

CONCLUSION

We reverse John's conviction for deliveiy of a firearm to an ineligible person and

remand for resentencing. We otherwise affirm the convictions.

A majority of the panel has determined this opinion will not be printed in the

Washington Appellate Reports, but it will be filed for public record pursuant to

RCW 2.06.040.

w

Lawrence-Berrey, C.J. ( J

I CONCUR:

Fearing, J
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SiDDOWAY, J. (dissenting in part) — Jurors found John Jennings guilty of a

violation of RCW 9.41.080, which provides that "[n]Q person may deliver a firearm to

any person whom he Or she has reasonable cause to believe is ineligible under RC W

9.41.040 to possess a fireaim." They were persuaded that John delivered a firearm to

Adam, whom they were informed, by stipulation, was ineligible to possess one. The

State's evidence was sufficient. I would affirm.

The State's evidence went beyond demonstrating that Adam used a firearm

belonging to his father. The State presented evidence from which jurors could conclude

beyond a reasonable doubt that Adam had his father's standing permission to use his

father's firearms whenever he wanted, and that he regularly did use them. Some of the

firearms were locked up. The State proved that a key to the safe was found in Adams's

room both times the cabin was searched, This, and the evidence that Adam played a role

in the murder of Michael Carrigan, is substantial evidence of a violation of RCW

9.41.080 oh or about the September 2,2013 date of the murder.

The majority's author errs by applying the rule of lenity. "The rule of lenity is the

last, not the first, resort when a criminal statute must be construed." City ofSeattle v.

Winebrenner, 167 Wn.2d 451,469,219 P.3d 686 (2009) (Madsen, J,, concurring). 'To

determine whether to apply the rule, the court must first make a 'serious investigation' Of

the language Of the statute and its purpose, its context, related statutes, the statutory

scheme, and legislative history. It is improper to create or assume ambiguity and then
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turn to the rule of lenity to resolve it." Id. (quoting Lawrence M. Solan, Law, Language,

and Lenity, 40 Wm. &, Mary L. Rev. 57, 115 (1998)).

In Burton v. Lehman, our Supreme Court construed the word "delivery" as used in

a different statute. It relied on "delivery's" dictionary definition as meaning [t]he

formal act of transferring something ...; the giving or yielding possession or control of

something to another.'" 153 Wn.2d 416,424, 103 P.3d 1230 (2005) (quoting Black's

Law Dictionary 461 (8th ed. 2004)). The court recognized that "the law recognizes

that delivery may be actual, constructive, or symbolic," id., even though not every

meaning of "delivery" may be reasonable in a particular context.

In many contexts, multiple meanings of "deliver" or "delivery" are recognized as

reasonable. One example is the word's use in a criminal context, the Uniform Controlled

Substances Act, chapter 69.50 RCW, which criminalizes the actual or constructive

transfer ("delivery") of controlled substances. See RCW 69.50.101(g). Another is the

common law of gifts, which recognizes "delivery" as an essential element of a completed

gift, but does not require proof of hand delivery. E.g., In re Marriage ofZier, 136 Wn.

App. 40,47,147 P.3d 624 (2006) (what constitutes "delivery" depends on the nature of

the property and the attendant circumstances). A third is the common law of insurance,

which requires delivery of a policy but not hand delivery. E.g. , Frye v. Prudential Ins.

Co. of Am., l57 Wash. 88, 90-91, 288 P. 262 (1930) ("Delivery" of an insurance policy

may be actual or constructive, with certain mailings of a policy qualifying as delivery.).
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Before resorting to the rule of lenity, then, the issue is whether it is reasonable to construe

RCW 9.41.080 as using "deliver" in its multiple accepted senses, and therefore

unreasonable to arbitrarily rule out one accepted meaning of the word.

In Bernethy v. Walt Failor's, Inc., our Supreme Court described former RCW

9.41.080 (1982) as, "at a minimum, reflect[ing] a strong public policy in our state that

certain people should not be provided with dangerous weapons." 97 Wn.2d 929, 933,

653 P.2d 280 (1982) (emphasis added). One can "provide [a person] with" dangerous

weapons by making firearms accessible and granting standing permission to use them. In

fact, John's standing permission was a particularly effective way of providing Adam with

dangerous weapons, sinbe John did not have to be present and available to place a firearm

in Adam's hands. Given the purpose of RCW 9.41.080, the dictionary definition of

"delivery" as "yielding possession or control... to another" is every bit as reasonable a

construction as is "giving possession or control" in the sense of physically handing a

firearm to another.

No case law is cited nor is any principled reason offered for Adams's argument

that physically handing something to another is the "narrow" construction of "deliver"

and therefore appropriate. Pointing out that RCW 9.41.080 does not define "deliver" as

including "constructive" delivery is not persuasive, since the word is not defined as

limited to "actual" delivery, either. Both are accepted meanings of the unmodified word

"deliver."
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Adams's construction of "deliver" as having only one of its accepted meanings,

but not another, is arbitrary and unreasonable. Because the meaning he proposes is

merely a possible meaning but not a reasonable one given the purpose of the statute,

RCW 9.41.080 is not ambiguous. The rule of lenity need not be applied. State v. McGee,

122 Wn.2d 783,787, 864 P.2d 912 (1993).

The majority's decision to reverse John's conviction does not depend on Adam's

construction of "deliver," however. It depends instead on the asserted absence of

evidence that John delivered a firearm to Adam "oh or about September 2,2013."

Clerk's Papers (No. 33932-7-III, John) at 140-41. In my view, because John's delivery

of a weapon was ongoing, recurring whenever Adam acted on his father's standing

permission, there was sufficient evidence that Adam acted on that permission on or about

September 2, 2013. Alternatively, it is well settled that where time is not a material

element of the charged crime, the language "on or about" is sufficient to admit proof of

the act at any time within the statute of limitations, so long as there is no defense of alibi.

State V. Hayes, 81 Wn. App, 425,432,914 P.2d 788 (1996). In Hayes, the "on or about"

limitation appeared not only in the charging document, but also in the instructions to the

jury. See id. at 431 n.9.

For these reasons, I would affirm John's conviction of delivery of a firearm to an

ineligible person.

Siddoway, J. U'
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